IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

JAMES & DEBCORAH PRI CE, PARENTS : CIVIL ACTI ON
AND NATURAL GUARDI ANS OF :
MEGAN PRI CE, A M NOR

V.

PENNSYLVANI A PROP. & CAS. I NS. :
GUARANTY ASS' N, et al. : NO 01-Cv-1073

ORDER - MEMORANDUM

Padova, J.

AND NOW this day of June, 2001, upon consideration of
Def endants’ Mdtion to Dismss (Doc. No. 4), and all responsive
briefing, it is hereby ordered that said Mdtion is granted pursuant
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).* The Cerk of Court
shall close this case for statistical purposes.

The Conpl aint alleges the following facts. In 1994, Plaintiffs
sued several doctors for nedical malpractice in the Phil adel phia
County Court of Conmon Pleas in connection with injuries suffered
by Megan Price fromdeficient prenatal and obstetric care. At the
time of trial, Megan Price’s nedical expenses were in excess of
$800, 000 and were paid by Janes Price’s health insurance. The

action eventually settled for $3.1 mllion, $2.5 million of which

A claimmay be dismi ssed under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
12(b)(6) only if the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in
support of the claimthat would entitle her to relief. ALA, Inc.
v. CCAIR Inc., 29 F.3d 855, 859 (3d Gr. 1994). The review ng
court must consider only those facts alleged in the conplaint and
accept all of the allegations as true. |d.
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was paid by Pennsylvania s Medical Pr of essi onal Liability
Cat ast rophe Loss Fund. Defendant Pennsyl vani a Property and Casual ty
| nsurance Guaranty Association (“PPCIGA’) is presently the primary
mal practice i nsurer for several of the doctor defendants due to the
i nsol vency of their original insurer.? PPClGA has refused to pay
its $600,000 share of the settlement on the ground that 40 Pa.
Cons. Stat. 8§ 991.1817(a) permts it to offset the anmounts owed
under the settlenent by the anpbunt of noney Plaintiffs received
fromtheir own health insurance. The settl| enent agreenent provides
that PPCIGA is obliged to pay $600,000 to Plaintiffs subject to a

judicial determ nation of PPCIGA's right to offset.?

Def endant Homer A. Rhule is PPCIGA' s executive director.

Def endants subnmit the settlenent agreenent as an exhibit to
the instant Mdtion. The Court may consider it w thout converting
the Motion into one for sunmary judgnment since the Conplaint
explicitly relies upon it. In re Burlington Coat Factory Litig.,
114 F. 3d 1410, 1426 (3d Cr. 1997). The settlenent agreenent
provi des:
The anobunt to be paid by [Defendant] is clained to be
subject to “Non-duplication of Recovery” (40 P.S.
8991.1817(a) . . . ). Therefore, the undersigned
[Plaintiffs] hereby agrees to accept the statutory
primary limt of [the settling doctors], subject to
such of fset provisions of the Pennsylvania Property and
Casual ty I nsurance Guaranty Associ ation Act as shall be
determ ned by a Court of conpetent jurisdiction. If it
shoul d be finally determ ned by the Court that the
offset provision . . . is invalid otherw se or not
applicable to reduce the undersigned’ s cash recover,
[ Def endant] shall pronply pay to the undersigned the
full Timt of its liability...

Def. Ex. 2 at 3.




Plaintiffs assert two counts. Count One i s brought pursuant to
42 U.S.C. 8§ 1983 and clains that Defendants’ assertion of the
applicability of the statutory offset violates their Fourteenth
Amendnent right to procedural and substantive due process, as well
as the Contract Cause. Count Two seeks declaratory judgnent
agai nst Defendants’ right to apply the statutory offset to anmounts
owed under the settlenent agreenent. Defendants argue that the
Conplaint fails to state a cause of action under 8§ 1983. In the
alternative, Defendants seek a stay of this action pending
conpletion of a state action in which the parties are litigating
the applicability of the statutory offset provision.

Section 1983 of Title 42 of the United States Code provides a
remedy agai nst “any person” who, under the color of |aw, deprives
another of his constitutional rights. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (1994);

Carter v. Gty of Philadelphia, 989 F.2d 117, 119 (3d Cr. 1993).

To establish a claimunder § 1983, a plaintiff nust allege (1) a
deprivation of a federally protected right, and (2) conmm ssion of
the deprivation by one acting under color of state law. Lake v.
Arnold, 112 F. 3d 682, 689 (3d Gr. 1997). For the purposes of this
Mot i on, Defendant does not dispute that it is a state actor. The
salient question for decision therefore is whether Plaintiffs have
successfully alleged a deprivation of a federally protected right.

For the followi ng reasons, the Court concludes that they have not.



1. Contract O ause

Count One alleges that Defendants, through the assertion of
the applicability of the offset statute, inpaired Plaintiffs’
rights under insurance contracts* and the settlenent agreenent in
violation of the Contracts Clause of the United States
Constitution, Article | section 10. The United States Constitution
provides, in relevant part, that "[n]o state shall enter into any

Law i npairing the Qoligation of Contracts.” U. S. Const. art.
I, § 10. To allege a claim under the Contract C ause, the
plaintiff nust allege that: (1) a contractual rel ati onshi p exi sted;
(2) a change in a law occurred that inpaired the contractual
relationship; and (3) the inpairnent is substantial. Transp.

Wrkers Union of Am ., Local 290 v. Southeastern Pa. Transp. Auth.,

145 F.3d 619, 621 (3d Gr. 1998) (citing Ceneral Mdtors Corp. V.

Ronein, 503 U S 181, 186 (1992)). Although a contractual
relationship between Plaintiffs and PPCIGA is alleged, the

Conplaint’s allegations fail to establish that a state | aw i npaired

“The Conpl ai nt does not specify what contracts other than the
settl enent agreenment were allegedly inpaired. See Conpl. T 23(a)
(“the defendants . . . violated plaintiff’s Constitutional rights
by, . . . engaging in acts or om ssions which they knew woul d
inpair plaintiff’s rights under various insurance contracts and
the settlenent agreenent in violation of Article I Section 10 .
of the United States Constitution.”). The only other contracts to
which Plaintiffs were parties explicitly nentioned in the
Conpl aint are Janes Price’s contracts for health insurance.

Conpl. 911. The Court assunes that these health insurance
contracts are the “various insurance contracts” referenced in
par agr aph 23 of the Conpl aint.



the relationship or that the relationship was even i npaired.

“I'n order to come within the provision of the Constitution of
the United States [and the Constitution of Pennsylvania] which
decl ares that no State shall pass any law inpairing the obligation
of contracts, not only nmust the obligation of a contract have been
inpaired but it nust have been inpaired by a |aw of the State. The
prohibition is ained at the |legislative power of the State." New

Ol eans Waterworks Co. v. Louisiana Sugar Refining Co., 125 U. S.

18, 30 (1887). Thus, a court nust "first consider whether
there is shown on [the] record any act of state legislation." St.

Paul Gaslight Co. v. Gty of St. Paul, 181 U S. 142, 147 (1901).

Acts of state legislation include not only statutes enacted by the
| egi slature or constitutions enacted by the people of a state, but
also by-laws and ordinances of nunicipal corporations that
constitute “an exercise of legislative power delegated by the
| egislature to the corporation as a political subdivision of the
State, having all the force of law within the limts of the

municipality.” New Oleans Waterworks Co., 181 U S. at 30-31.

Legislative power is defined as the |awmking power of a
| egislative body involving actions that relate to subjects of

per manent or general character. See Transp. Wirkers Union of Am,

Local 290 v. SEPTA, No. Civ.A 96-0814, 1996 W. 420826, at *3 (E. D
Pa. July 25, 1996) (citing Black's Law Di ctionary 899-900 (6th ed.

1990) and determ ning that a SEPTA resol uti on nodi fyi ng an enpl oyee



benefit plan did not constitute |egislative action). Defendants’
opi nion and assertion of a | egal argunment on the interpretation of
a statute® does not constitute an exercise of |egislative power.
Nei t her Defendant is a |egislative body, and neither Defendant’s
opinion has the force of lawsimlar to a statute, or a nunicipa
ordi nance or byl aw.

Even i f Defendants’ interpretation of the offset provision was
a legislative act, the Conplaint’s allegations fail to establish
that the contractual relationships between Plaintiffs and
Defendants, or Plaintiffs and other insurers, were substantially
i npai red. The settl enent agreenent expressly antici pates a judici al
determ nation of the anount due and the applicability of the offset
statute. Thus, Defendants’ assertion of a legal argunent wth
respect to the applicability of the statutory offset could not
inpair the settlenent agreenent. Furthernore, the Court fails to
see how Defendants’ assertion of the applicability of the offset
provision could have inpaired Plaintiffs’ health insurance
contracts since Plaintiffs have already received paynent for the

past nedi cal expenses under those contracts. See Conpl. f 11

The Conplaint alleges that “[1]t is [Defendant’s] policy,
custom practice and/or procedure to claimsuch set-offs in
response to covered clains in all cases in which the injured
party received paynent of mnedical bills and expenses fromthird
parties.” Compl. § 17.



2. Due Process

Count One also alleges that Defendants’ assertion of the
applicability of the offset statute deprives Plaintiffs of their
property interest in the settlenent agreenent and other insurance
contracts, in violation of due process under the Fourteenth
Amendnent . ® Conpl. 9§ 23(b), (c), (d). The Fourteenth Anendment to
the United States Constitution protects a person fromstate action
that deprives her of “life, liberty or property, wthout due
process of law.” U S. Const. am XIV 8 1. Wiile this constitutional
provi sion facially speaks only of the adequacy of state procedures,

the cl ause al so has a substantive conponent. N cholas v. Pa. State

Univ., 227 F.3d 133, 138 (3d G r. 2000) (citing Planned Parenthood

of SSE. Pa v. Casey, 505 U S. 833, 846-47 (1992)). Plaintiffs

all ege violations of both substantive and procedural due process.

The essential principle of procedural due process is that a
deprivation of life, liberty or property should be preceded by
“notice and opportunity for a hearing appropriate to the nature of

the case.” (O eveland Bd. of Educ. v. Loudermll, 470 U. S. 532, 542

(1985). For procedural due process to apply, the plaintiff nust
establish a liberty or property interest that was burdened by state
action without a fair hearing because she did not receive either

adequate notice or a reasonabl e opportunity to be heard. Deibler v.

®As expl ained in footnote 4 supra, the Court assunes that
par agr aphs 23(b), (c), and (d) of the Conplaint references Janes
Price’s health insurance contracts.
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Cty of Rehoboth Beach, 790 F.2d 328, 331 (3d G r. 1983) (citing

Parratt v. Taylor, 451 U S. 527 (1981), Miullane v. Central Hanover

Bank & Trust Co., 339 U S. 306 (1950), and Wl ff v. MDonnell, 418

U S. 539 (1974)); see also Abbott v. Latshaw, 164 F.3d 141, 146 (3d

Cr. 1998).

Assum ng that Plaintiffs have a protectabl e property interest
in the proceeds of the settlenment agreenent, the Court concl udes
that Plaintiffs can prove no set of facts establishing that their
i nterest has been burdened by state action without a fair hearing.
Plaintiffs here do not contest the constitutionality of the
statutory offset provision itself, but rather contest PPCH GA' s
assertion that the offset provision applies to their claim The
settlenment agreenent into which Plaintiff voluntarily entered
expressly provides for a judicial determ nation of PPCIGA s right
to apply the statutory offset to the amount owed under the
agreenent. Any refusal to pay the full settlenent anount,
therefore, wll be preceded by litigation in a court of conpetent
jurisdiction. The opportunity to pursue the claimfor paynent in

court satisfies procedural due process. See Lujan v. G & G Fire

Sprinklers, Inc., 121 S. . 1446, (2001). Accordingly, Plaintiffs’

cl ai m under procedural due process is unsustainable.
Subst antive due process nay apply when a plaintiff chall enges
the arbitrary exerci se of power by a governnment official through a

non-| egi sl ative act. Ni chol as, 227 F.3d at 139. Generally, the



state may not take away a property interest that falls within the
scope of substantive due process for reasons that are “arbitrary,
irrational, or tainted by inproper notive,” or by neans of conduct
So egregious that it “shocks the conscience.” 1d. (quotations
omtted). To prevail on such a substantive due process claim a
plaintiff nust establish possession of a protected property

i nterest. ld. at 139-40 (citing Wodwind Estates Ltd. V.

G et kowski, 205 F. 3d 118, 123 (3d Cr. 2000)). However, “[n]ot all

property interests worthy of procedural due process protection are

protected by the concept of substantive due process.” 1d. (quoting

Reich v. Beharry, 833 F.2d 239, 243 (3d Cr. 1989)). Rather,

successful clai nms under substantive due process require deprivation
of a property interest that is fundanental under the United States
Constitution. Id. at 142. Fundanental property interests are those
that are “deeply rooted in the Nation’s history and traditions,” or
are “inplicit in the concept of ordered liberty I|ike persona

choice in matters of marriage and famly.” 1d. at 143. Property
interests created by entitlenents under state |aw, however, are
insufficient to be deened fundanental. 1d. at 140-41. Plaintiffs’

right to paynment by PPCIGA is created by state |law and as such is
not a fundanental interest subject to substantive due process. See

40 Pa. Cons. Stat. Ann. 8§ 991.1801 (West 2001); Conpl. 1 2.



For these reasons, Defendants’ Mdtion is granted and the

Conpl aint is dismssed.

BY THE COURT:

John R Padova, J.
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